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HISTORY OF WASHINGT®ON COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA.

on Feb. 15, 1871. On that day John F. Rowe
preached and began a series of meetings, continuing
over three Lord’s days, and resulting in several acces-
sions to the church. The elders of this church have
been selected with special reference to the scriptural
qualification of aptness to teach. The general policy
has been to rely upon local talent, chiefly the elder-
ship, for the public instruction of the congregation
and guidance into all good works, and to call in
preachers to aid in special efforts to reach the world
with the offers of salvation.

The present eldership consists of Edward Riggs,
G. G. Hertzog, and Robert Wilson ; the first of whom
has been an office-bearer in the church of God almost
continuously for more than forty-five years. With
him Josiah W. Philips and David Shallenberger were
also associated a part of the time. The deaconate is

- composed of Joseph Wilkins, James Luellyn, D. H.
Jacobs, and James Stevenson, ‘

The preachers who have labored with this church
in meetings of days and sometimes weeks, some of
whom have been called two, three, or four times for
such labors, are the following, viz.: J. D. Benedict,
J. F. Rowe, L. Southmayd, Benjamin Franklin, L.
P. Streator, J. C. Goodrich, Samuel Matthews, L. W.
Scott, 8. F. Fowler, Campbell Jobes, W.B. Young,
J. W. Kemp, L. F. Bittle, R. H. Singer, O. G. Hert-
zog, Joseph King, William Baxter, D. L. Kincaid,
William Pinkerton, T. D. Garvin, and George
Musson.

Others have preached occasionally to the edifica-

tion of the body, among whom are J. B. Pyatt, James |

Darsie, William Martin, A. C. McKeever, Thomas
Strathern, M. L. Streator, 8. B. Teagarden, and W.
L. Hayden.

This church is in a hopeful condition, and is quietly
holding on its way and pursuing its work. It has
received into its fellowship more than three hundred
members, But, with a floating element in the popu-
lation, it has suffered loss by removals, while some
have departed from the faith and others have “fallen
asleep in Christ.” The present active membership is
about one hundred and fifty. Itmaintains a flourish-
ing Sunday-school of near one hundred pupils under
the efficient superintendency of Prof. G. G. Hertzog,
assisted by an excellent corps of twelve teachers.
Thus its working members are striving to “shine as
lights in the world, holding forth the word of life.”

The First Presbyterian Church.—On the evening
of June 24, 1877, Rev. William Willson preached a
sermon from Matt. xix. 20, {n the chapel of the State
Normal School, in California, and on the 8th of July
following he preached another sermon from 1 Kings
~ vi. 7, in the Presbyterian Church at Greenfield. On
the ensuing day (June 9th) a number of persons signed
a petition requesting the Presbytery of Pittsburgh to
organize a Presbyterian Church in the town of Cali-
fornia. Subsequently the committee on presbyterial
missions authorized Mr. Willson to labor in this re-

gion, At hissolicitation Rev. R. Lee, D.D., preached
in California July 15, 1877, and Rev. David McKin-
ney, D.D., preached in Greenfield and California on
the 23d of the same month. Rev. John Kerr also,
preached in California September 30th.

The Presbytery of Pittsburgh, on the 3d of October,
1877, appointed Rev. R. Lee, D.D., Rev. William
Willson, and Elder William Caldwell a committee to
organize a church in California “ as soon as the way
should appear open.” Accordingly, two members of
this committee (viz.: Rev. R. Lee, D.D., and Rev.
William Willson) and others, agreeably to previous
announcement, met in Room A of the normal school
building Nov. 2, 1877, when, after singing and prayers,
and a sermon by the Rev. Dr. Lee, the meeting ad-
journed. On the succeeding day, all of the members
of the committee being present, the following persons
united in organizing a Presbyterian Church,! viz.:
Miss Hannah Montgomery, Mrs, Tillie Crawford, Mr.
William Mehaffey, Mrs. Ruth Mehaffey, Mr. William
M. Hart, Mrs. Bessie Hart, Prof. James B. Smith, Mr.
Isaac K. Jackman, Mrs. H. Jackman, Mrs. Caroline
Hazelbaker, Mr. Charles Howe, Mrs. Mary E. Howe,
Mrs, Luna C. Beard, Mr. Theo. F. Montgomery,
Mrs. Rebecca Montgomery, Mrs. Annie J. Smith, and
Mrs. Jennietta Hill.

During the evening of the same day Rev. William
Willson preached from Luke xviii. 1, and Psalm
cxviii. 25, and Prof. James B. Smith was ordained
and installed ruling elder. -Thereupon the committee
of the Presbytery of Pittsburgh declared the First
Presbyterian Church of California duly organized,
and the meeting adjourned. Another meeting was
immediately held, Rev. Dr. Lee presiding, when the
Rev. William Willson was unanimously elected as a
supply for the new church for one year, to commence
Oct. 1, 1877. He continued until September, 1880. -
The next regular supply was Rev. Levi Risher, who
came in December, 1880, and remained until July,
1881. In December, 1881, Rev. E. P. Crane was in-
stalled as the first regular pastor of this church, and
still continues as such. :

The church edifice was built during the summer of
1878. It is g frame structure. It cost about $1600,
and has sittings for two hundred persons. The elders
at the present time are James B. Smith and Noah
W. Patton, the latter having been elected in Decem-
‘ber, 1879, James W. Clark, a former elder, removed
from the town in the spring of 1881, as did also Jo-
siah Reed, who was elected a ruling elder in January,
1879, The first board of trustees was composed of
William Mehaffey, William M. Hart, and James B.
Smith. The present trustees are Isaac Reed, Isaac
Jackman, and J. B. Vandyke, who were elected in
December, 1879. Present membership of the church,

1 Prof. George P. Beard, an ordained minister of the Presbyterian
Church, #nd the present principal of the Southwestern Normal College,
also bore an active part in organizing this church,



ALLEN TOWNSHIP.

645

by Francis Asbury in 1807. William Riggs died in
1833, aged eighty-four years. He had thirteen chil-
dren, all dead except Mahlon Riggs, the youngest,
who is now in his eighty-fourth year. 'The William
Riggs tract is in his possession. His sons are Wil-
liam M. and John L., residing in Allen township,
Jeremiah E. Riggs sold to William Riggs, June 27,
1796, one hundred and twenty-five acres, being a part
of a tract sold by Bazil Stoker to Jeremiah Riggs,
March 25, 1780, containing three hundred and sixty-
one acres, adjoining Joseph Allen, Joseph Chester,
and Nathan Ellis. Patented to Jeremiah E. Riggs
April 13, 1795. The names of the old family were
William, Jeremiah, Jonas, Thomas, Zachariah, Noah,
Mahlon, Eleanor, Alvilar, Mary, Lucy, Betsey, and
Annje.

Lawrence and John Crow were settlers who came
to this county in the year 1784. Lawrence made
application for atract of land, which was warranted
to him August 31st in that year, and surveyed on the
16th of December following. It was named “ Crow’s
Egg,” and contained two hundred and ninety-five
acres. His brother John located land adjoining, for
which he obtained a warrant July 10, 1786. It was
surveyed June 9, 1787, as “ Dear Purchase,” and con-
tained three hundred and eighty-two acres. This
tract joinel William Jackman, Joseph Allen, Wil-
liam Howe, and Joshua Dixon. The two brothers
lived here on these farms and died before 1796, as in

“that year the lands of William Howe are mentioned
as “adjoining the lands of the heirs of Lawrence and
John Crow and others.” Margaret, the wife of John
Crow, lived many years later, and died at the advanced
age of one hundred and nine years. The children of
these two men grew up and intermarried with families
of that section, and left numerous descendants. Clark

Crow lives on one hundred and thirty-five acres of
the John Crow tract. Dr. Henry C. Chalfant and
William Huggins are descendants. The lands taken
up by them are still mostly in the possession of dif-
ferent branches of the family.

Peter Hazelbaker came to the United States?! from
Anspach, Germany, as an English soldier during the
Revolution; was taken prisoner by the American
forces; was never exchanged, and never returned to
his native land. Peter shortly after the war married
Miss Elizabeth Shively, daughter of Daniel Shively,
of Berkeley County, Va. Soon after their marriage
Peter and wife emigrated to Washington County, Pa.,
and settled in an old log house on the farm now owned
by 8. A. Chester, in Allen township. This wasin the
beginning of the present century, but in what year
we are not informed. He died in 1800, and his
remains were buried in the field just above the present
residence of Maj. Henry Sphar. Peter had six sons.
Their names were Peter, Daniel, John, Jacob, Abra-

1 This account of Hazelbaker, like those of many other early settlers
in this section, is from the papers of Dr. J, 8. Yan Voorhis.

ham, and George. John was one of the old-time
school-teachers, and was the first man who ever taught
school in Belle Vernon. His school-house was the
present residence of Mrs. Mary Corwin, on Main
Street in that town. He died years ago in Iowa.
Daniel died in Indiana. Peter died six weeks after
the death of his father, and was buried with his father
in the Sphar graveyard. Abraham died near Brush
Creek, in Ohio. Jacob lived for many years in the
stone house a short distance above Belle Vernon, now
owned by R. C. Schmertz & Co. He removed to a
farm near Perryopolis about thirty years ago. George
lived beyond all his brothers, He married Matilda
Dunlevy, sister of the late Andrew Dunlevy, who died

.in 1853,

George Hazelbaker first lived in Belle Vernon, where
he built the house on Main Street now occupied by
Rebecca Laneheart. He afterwards resided on the
farm where John B. Gould now lives; then on the
Johnson, the Rutan, the Cooper farms, and finally in
1841 he purchased the farm in Allen township (on
which he died) from Abia Allen and Robert Stockdale.
His sons Andrew and Joseph died many years since.
Anthony lives in Illinois; Jacob now resides near
Foxburg, in the oil regions; George, Jr., resides near
the home farm; and John, Jr., since his marriage has
taken care of his father on the homestead ; Matilda
married Joseph Wolf, and resides in the West; Mary
married John Cooper, now deceased, and lives in the
West; Sarah Ann is the wife of Addison Cummings,
and lives in Allen township ; Margaret was the wife
of R. C. Guffey, of North Belle Vernon. He belongs
to the Guffey family which has been so long identified
with politics in Westmoreland County. The late
Shively Hazelbaker, who many years ago occupied
the Shepler Hotel in town, was a nephew of the de-
ceased. George Hazelbaker died June 28, 1880, aged
ninety-two years. In his seventy-fifth year he united
with Rehoboth Church, and remained in that member-
ship until his death. He was a good citizen, a genial
neighbor, and above all a Christian.

From the assessment-roll of 1788 for Fallowfield
are taken the following names of persons taxable in
that township, and resident in that part of it which
is now included in Allen, viz.: Joseph Allen, Eli
Allen, John Allen, Joseph Chester, Lawrence Crow,
Samuel Dixon, Joshua Dixon, Henry Dixon, Edward
Ear], Nathan Ellis, James Ellis, Jesse Ellis, Hezekiah
Ellis, David England, John Nixon, John Sprowls, .
John Finney, William Jackman, John Justice, Jere-
miah Riggs, William Riggs, Edmund Riggs, Clement
Riggs, Henry Speers. Mr. Mahlon Riggs, now (No-
vember, 1881) living in Allen at the age of eighty-
four years, recollects that many of those above named
were still living here at the commencement of the
war of 1812 against Great Britain.

Thomas Stockdale, who was of English parentage,
emigrated to this country and settled in Montgomery
County, Pa., and from there came to this county late
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Among those, however, who were owners of lots ‘
and residents at that time, or in years very soon there-
after, and have not already been mentioned, were
Thomas Officer, a merchant, George White (who suc-
ceeded Adam Hailman as postmaster on the death of
the latter in 1813), John Berrie, innkeeper ; John
Hazelbaker, teacher; Joshua Pennel, teacher; Wil-
liam Prime, boat-builder;; Dr. Samuel M. King, Dr.
Jeremiah Brooks, and Dr. James Pollock, all of
whom were prominent and widely-known physicians;
James Mitchell, proprietor of the “ East End of Wil-
liamsport;”” James Gordon, Esq.,! an early merchant;
William Hunter, John Eckles, Robert McGrew,

- James McGrew, James Freeman, William Chalfant,
Johnson Chalfant, Jesse Robb, John Watkins, Wash-
ington Palmer, William Crookham, William P. Biles,
Henry Pinkney, John Bridge, Francis Scott, Samuel
Barnett, Alexander Jones, William Dalrymple, James
Dougherty, Andrew Nicholson, Crawford Dally, Is-
rael Pancoast, William Wallace, Samuel Speaker,
William Doyle, John Lefler, James P. Stewart, mer-
chant; Capt. John Shouse, Peter Shouse,? and Rob-
ert Beebe, boat-builders] and William Thmsen, glass-
manufacturer, who probably did more to make busi-
ness prosperous in the town than any other in his
day.

1 At the age of eighty-five years, Hon. James Gordon died at the resi-
-dence of his son in Cookstown, Pa., March 6,1866. He became a resi-
dent of Williamsport (now Monongahela City) in June, 1810, Soon
-after he established the first Sunday-school ever organized in the place,
under a great deal of opposition from people who said “the children
should have at least one day in the week to themselves.” For more
‘than forty years he was an efficient and acceptable ruling elder in the
church. During a long life of usefulness in the church and State he
-maintained a character as a man and Christian singularly blameless
-and elevated, wielding an infiuence for good in every sphere in which
he moved.

With credit to himself and great acceptance to his constituency he

+filled various public offices. Appointed a justice of the peace by Gover-
nor Snyder, he served in that capacity for thirty-five years. Governor
_Shunk appointed him associate judge for Washington County, which

vposition he occupied for five years, and with so much satisfaction that
the members of the Washington County bar presented him with an ele-
gant cane at the expiration of his term. He was a ‘member of the
electoral college which placed Andrew Jackson in the Presidential

-chair for the first time. Governor Porter appointed him appraiser of
damages*on the public works, and he also filled the office of county
register by appointment from the same source. He was a county com-
missioner as early as 1813, and some years afterwards was elected county

-auditor. As a member of the board of revenue commissioners he repre-
sented his district at Harrisburg in 1857.

From 1825 to 1863 he was a trustee of Jefferson,College. In February,
1810, he was married in Washington, Pa., by Rev. Dr. Brown to Miss
Mary Ann, daughter of Sheriff Officer, by whem he had nine children.
Under his father-in-law he served as deputy sheriff, and during the
time conveyed to the penitentiary at Philadelphia thirty-three convicts,
going over the mountains on horseback with bis prisoners, escorted by
a mounted guard.

His son, Rev. Thomas P. Gordon, was a Presbyterian minister. He
also had two sons-in-law who were Presbyterian ministers, viz., Rev.

- James Sloan (father of Dr, James G. Sloan, of Monongahela City) and
Rev. W. P, Harshe. Another son, Dr. James Gordon, is a resident of
Fayette City (formerly Cookstown), Pa.

2 Peter Shouse and Robert Beebe were married to sisters by the name

- of Vandever. Shouse built one of the first steamboats that plied on the

~waters of the Monongahela. Subsequently he founded the town of
. Shousetown, on the Ohio River,

During the years which immediately succeeded the
close of the war of the Revolution, American com-
merce on the high seas had continually been crippled
by the studied acts of those in command of British
war-vessels. Our merchant ships were boarded in
mid-ocean, native American seamen were forcibly
taken therefrom and compelled to do menial service
under the detested flag of Britain, while at the prin-
cipal foreign seaports American naval officers were
the frequent recipients of British insult. An intense
feeling of indignation had been aroused throughout
the republic, and it only needed the perpetration of
the outrage of July 18, 1807, when a British man-of-
war fired into the United States frigate  Chesapeake”
to make the American yeomanry assemble at every
village and cross-roads, to organize as soldiers, and
clamor for war against the tyrants of the ocean.

The citizens of the ambitious little town of Wil-
liamsport, on the Monongahela, were not a whit be-
hind others in the American Union at this juncture,
and as a result of the martial spirit prevailing Capt.
James Warne’s company of infantry, known as the
“ Williamsport Rangers,” and Capt. John Shouse’s
troop of horse were speedily organized, and as well
equipped as it was then possible to do. This speck
of war passed away, however, or rather the dogs of
war were held in abeyance for a few years, but the
companies commanded by Capts. Warne and Shouse
maintained their organizations until called upon to
perform actual service in the field. Meanwhile they
held regular meetings for muster and drill, had their
days of festivity and social enjoyment, and invariably
celebrated the national holiday in July of each vear. '
Hence in an early Washington County newspaper we
find the following :

“ Parkison’s Ferry, July 4, 1811. The Williamsport Rangers, com-
manded by Capt. James Warne, assembled at 10 o'clock A.M. After
performing various military tactics they were dismissed until 3 o’clock
P.M., when all met at the house of Mr. Joseph Parkison and partook of an
elegant dinner. Gen. John Hamilton and Joseph Becket snr Esq., oc-
cupied seats at the head of the table, and thirteen toasts were given,”

The attitude assumed by Great Britain at last be-
came unbearable, and on the 18th day of June, 1812,
war was declared by the United States against the
former power. Hostile movements began, and in the
latter part of the summer Capt. Shouse’s troop of
horse joined a Washington County expeditionary
force, and proceeded as far as New Lisbon, Ohio,
where, being satisfied that no advantage could be
gained by going farther, this command returned
home as elsewhere narrated. In the mean time the
“ Williamsport Rangers” had held themselves in
readiness to march at an hour’s notice, «

In August, 1812, the citizens of the northeastern
part of Washington County held a mass-meeting at
Ginger Hill, for the purpose of obtaining a sufficient
number of volunteers to fill the quota called for by
the general government, who had determined to place
a larger body of six-months volunteers on the Cana-
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